IN COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI 2012-KM-01528-COA

MARK MATHEWS

APPELLANT

V.

CITY OF MADISON, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Oral Argument Requested

CHRIS N. K. GANNER, ESQ. 405 Tombigbee Street Jackson MS 39201 Telephone No.: (601) 354-2095 Facsimile No.: (601) 354-5548 MSB Counsel for Appellant

IN COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI 2012-KM-01528-COA

MARK MATHEWS

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

V.

CITY OF MADISON, MISSISSIPPI

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1:	WAS THERE SUFFICIENT PROOF OF SIMPLE ASSAULT AND WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY NOT APPLYING THE CASTLE DOCTRINE?
ISSUE NO. 2:	WHETHER THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF DISORDERLY CONDUCT UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES?
ISSUE NO. 3:	WHETHER THE WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE CONVICTIONS FOR DISORDERLY CONDUCT AND SIMPLE ASSAULT?
ISSUE NO. 4:	WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN EXCLUDING DEFENSE EVIDENCE?

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Pursuant to M. R. A. P. Rule 34, Appellant respectfully requests oral argument because this appeal addresses the proper application of Mississippi's Castle Doctrine Statute, Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-15(3) and (4)(Rev. 2006). Furthermore, this appeal also involves fundamental rights of due process and fair trial standards in the admission and exclusion of evidence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mark Mathews was convicted of simple assault and disorderly conduct in the City of Madison Municipal Court on July 28, 2011. [R. 28-29]. Mathews appealed the convictions to the County Court of Madison County in which a *de novo* bench trial conducted September 6, 2011, with the Honorable Edwin Y. Hannan, County Court Judge presiding, resulted in the same convictions. [T. 120-21; R. 3, 80-82]. Mathews was sentenced on the simple assault conviction to 180 days with 150 days suspended. [T. 120]. For the disorderly conduct, the sentence was a consecutive 180 days with 175 suspended. *Id.* The suspended incarceration was conditioned on satisfactory completion of 2 years of unsupervised probation and attendance of anger management classes. *Id.* Matthews is not presently incarcerated.

. 1

The County Court convictions were then appealed to the Circuit Court of Madison County where the Honorable John Emfinger presiding affirmed the County Court verdicts by written opinion entered August 29, 2012. [R. 111-14]. The present appeal followed.

FACTS

Mark Mathews and Brittany Sullivan, both in their twenties, had a daughter, Macy Kate, out of wedlock in 2008. [Ex. S-1; R. 20-27; T. 27-28]. A Final Judgement of Filiation and Support was entered in the Chancery Court of Madison County awarding "joint legal and joint physical" custody to Mark and Brittany "with each having periods of actual physical custody at times and under circumstances as they may agree." *Id.* The Judgement also provided a schedule for visitation when the parties "are unable to agree on which parent should exercise actual physical custody." [R. 22]. Mark was a college student. [T. 75].

Brittany resided with her mother, Pam Sullivan, at 141 Oak Ridge Circle in the City of Madison. [T. 36-37]. Brittany did not have a key to her mother's residence, however, and she had lost the automatic garage door opener used to access entry into the house. [T. 36-37, 86]. Brittany did not have a vehicle and had been in drug rehabilitation for abuse of Xanax.¹ [T. 29-30, 46]. Sullivan was not fond of Mark previously had tried to become guardian of Macy Kate. [T. 29-30, 45-46, 78; Ex. D-2].

Around 8:00 a. m. on Thursday May 26, 2011, Mark drove with his daughter on the passenger side of the back seat passenger of his pick-up truck and parked at the curb of 141 Oak Ridge to turn the child over to Brittany after a scheduled Wednesday overnight visitation. [T. 22, 32, 78]. Mark was required to park on the street and stay off of Sullivan's property because he had been charged and convicted of trespassing about a year earlier. [T. 19, 76]. During the episode described herein, Mark never set foot on Sullivan's property [T. 32].

Sullivan testified that on similar occasions, she, Brittany or some other family member, would usually go out to the street and retrieve the child. *Id.* Sometimes Mark's and Brittany's grandparents would do the exchange. *Id.* Mark testified that Sullivan had never came out to the curb for the child, that it was always Brittany. [T. 78-79].

Nevertheless, on this particular morning, Sullivan came out to Mark's truck and

i

Xanax ®, a trade name for Alprazolam, "is in a class of medications called benzodiazepines [which work] by decreasing abnormal excitement in the brain." http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmedhealth/PMH0000807

Madison Police officer and now is with the Madison County Sheriff's Office. [T. 43].

Mark's call to police reported that "a female ... snatched his child out the [vehicle] after a physical altercation." [R. 51]. Mike Brown came over in civilian clothes, then two other Madison Police Officers arrived. [T. 51]. The only officer to testify was Ryan Wigley who said Brown was already on the scene when he responded. *Id*.

Officer Wigley testified that, as he was speaking with Brown and Sullivan, he noticed Mark using his cell phone, and asked him not to make a call and to put the cell phone away. [*Id.*, T. 99]. Mark, upset and thinking that his daughter had just been kidnapped, responded to the officer with a disgruntled assertion that the officer could not prevent him from using the phone, and, Mark continued to try and place a call. [T. 51-52, 84].

Mark said at that point, the officer approached him with one hand on his service weapon and the other on his handcuffs, and placed Mark under arrest with some token roughness. [T. 85, 97-98]. The officer said there was no unnecessary roughness and that he merely placed Mark under arrest and charged him with "disorderly conduct - failure to comply" with a law enforcement officer. [T. 52]. Wigley said after getting Mark in the patrol car, he went and spoke with Sullivan himself. [T. 53]. No one ever asked for Mark's side of the events. [T. 58, 60]. Wigley said he did not notice any physical injuries to Sullivan. [T. 55]. The state offered no medical testimony and no photographic proof at trial of any injury to Ms. Sullivan.

Regarding the phone call, Mark said he was trying to reach his father which was confirmed by Sullivan's testimony. [T. 44, 85]. Even though there were three police officers present, fully armed with pistols, shotguns, pepper-spray, batons and radio communication for back-up, Wigley said it was unsafe for Mark to use his cell phone. [T. 59]. Mark did not deny failing to comply with the officer's request, he just said he was so upset about Sullivan snatching his young daughter. [T. 85, 96].

Wigley could not say under which subsection of the disorderly conduct statute Mark was being charged, because the computer just "spits out" the paper work. [T. 101, 104]. Sullivan was never charged with assault or kidnapping or any other offense. [T. 43-44].

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court erred in not finding that the County Court Judge failed to afford Mark Mathews the legally prescribed presumptions under Mississippi's Castle Doctrine statute in relation to the simple assault charge. The Circuit Court erred in not finding that the County Court Judge failed to apply the correct legal standard in assessing the evidence on the disorderly conduct charge. The weight of evidence does not support convictions of either charge. The Circuit Court failed to recognize that the trial court erroneously excluded defense evidence and limited Mathews' constitutional right to cross-examine his accusers.

6

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1: WAS THERE SUFFICIENT PROOF OF SIMPLE ASSAULT AND WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY NOT APPLYING THE CASTLE DOCTRINE?

With proper application of the law, there was an insufficiency of evidence to support a simple assault conviction. The County Court Judge should have sustained Mark Matthew's Motion for Directed Verdict or Motion for Judgment of Acquittal Notwithstanding the Verdict (JNOV). The Circuit Court erred in finding that the Castle Doctrine did not apply in this case and that the evidence was sufficient. [R. 112]. The Circuit Court stated no reason for this conclusion. *Id.*

Defense counsel raised Mississippi's Castle Doctrine codified in Miss. Code Ann

§97-3-15(3) and (4)(Rev. 2006) in his motions for directed verdict and for JNOV. [T. 63-

65; R. 88].² Sullivan was the aggressor and basically kidnapped or abducted the child

2

Mississippi Code Annotated section 97–3–15(3) and (4) (Rev. 2006):

⁽³⁾ A person who uses defensive force shall be presumed to have reasonably feared imminent death or great bodily harm, or the commission of a felony upon him or another or upon his dwelling, or against a vehicle which he was occupying, or against his business or place of employment or the immediate premises of such business or place of employment, if the person against whom the defensive force was used, was in the process of unlawfully and forcibly entering, or had unlawfully and forcibly entered, a dwelling, occupied vehicle, business, place of employment or the immediate premises thereof or if that person had unlawfully removed or was attempting to unlawfully remove another against the other person's will from that dwelling, occupied vehicle, business, place of employment or the immediate premises thereof and the person who used defensive force knew or had reason to believe that the forcible entry or unlawful and forcible act was occurring or had occurred. This presumption shall not apply if the person against whom defensive force was used has a right to be in or is a lawful resident or owner of the dwelling, vehicle, business, place of employment or the immediate premises thereof or is the lawful resident or owner of the dwelling, vehicle, business, place of employment or

from Mathews' vehicle by use of force. [T. 64-65]. The trial court and Circuit Court erred reversibly in not applying the Castle Doctrine to the facts of this case. [T. 67, 127-28; R. 112].

Matthew's actions were legally justified. Mathews' parental rights are paramount to Sullivan's, the grandmother. Parents have a constitutional fundamental right "to make decisions concerning the care, custody, and control of their children." *Troxel v. Granville*, 530 U. S. 57, 66, 120 S. Ct. 2054 (2000). Courts are required to afford "special weight to a fit parent's determination of a child's best interests." *Id.* at 69, 120 S.Ct. 2054. Parents have "a paramount right to control the environment, physical, social, and emotional [situations], to which their children are exposed." *Stacy v. Ross*, 798 So. 2d 1275, 1280 (¶ 23) (Miss. 2001).

Pam Sullivan had no legal authority to seize Mark and Brittany's daughter. She was not a guardian, not a custodial parent, and she did not have grandparent visitation rights. Therefore, Sullivan was attempting to abduct, and did indeed abduct, the child in this case. Under Miss. Code Ann § 93-29-3(1) (1972), "Abduction' means the wrongful

the immediate premises thereof or if the person who uses defensive force is engaged in unlawful activity or if the person is a law enforcement officer engaged in the performance of his official duties;

⁽⁴⁾ A person who is not the initial aggressor and is not engaged in unlawful activity shall have no duty to retreat before using deadly force under subsection (1) (e) or (f) of this section if the person is in a place where the person has a right to be, and no finder of fact shall be permitted to consider the person's failure to retreat as evidence that the person's use of force was unnecessary, excessive or unreasonable.

removal or wrongful retention of a child."

Even if the child's mother was unavailable, Mathews, with joint physical and legal custody, was not obligated to turn the child over to Sullivan. In *Givens v. Nicholson*, 878 So. 2d 1073, 1076 (¶¶ 13-14) (Miss. Ct. App. 2004), the court found that a chancellor requiring a non-custodial father to leave a child with maternal grandparents for extended periods of time when the child's mother was unavailable was the same as granting the maternal grandparents visitation. *Id.* (¶ 15). The chancellor was wrong, because, the grandparents had not been afforded visitation as required by statute, Miss. Code Ann. \$93-16-3 (Rev. 1994). *Id.* (¶ 18).

Without the benefit of statutory grandparent visitation, Sullivan's right of access to the child in this case is summed up from the following language found in *Naveda v*. *Ahumada* 381 So. 2d 147, 149-50 (Miss. 1980):

Grandparents have no common-law right to visitation; their rights are derivative through the natural parent, and any obligation of a custodial parent to permit visitation of a grandchild by the grandparent is a moral obligation and not a legal right. Moreover, custodial parents "have the right to determine with whom the child will associate." *Id.* at 150. Therefore, a custodial parent has the right to object to a grandparent's association with that parent's child. *Id.* This arises from the "freedom of personal choice in matters of family life [which] is a fundamental liberty interest protected by the Fourteenth Amendment. *Id.*

Therefore, Mathews had a fundamental right to refuse to tender his child to

Sullivan, and Sullivan lacked any standing whatsoever to demand surrender of the child. It follows too that Sullivan lacked any right to extricate and abduct the child from the child's parent's vehicle.

In *Thomas v. State*, 75 So. 3d 1112, 1113-14 (¶¶ 3-8) (Miss. Ct. App. 2011), the Court of Appeals applied the Castle Doctrine to reverse a manslaughter conviction. The events in *Thomas* involved a shooting in a parking lot of the Performing Arts Building in Southaven. After a party, a crowd gathered and one group of men were assaulting another man. *Id.* Security personnel attempted, but, could not stop the fight. *Id.* Thomas, who was not participating in the fray, shot a gun into the air which stopped the attack; Thomas then ran and got into his car. *Id.* The man who was being attacked "was relieved when Thomas shot the gun because he thought the men would have beaten him to death if it had been allowed to continue." *Id.*

Several men then ran after Thomas and tried to open his car doors, but they were locked. *Id.* Thomas reloaded his weapon while the men ran to the rear of his car knocking on the windows and beating the trunk. *Id.* One of the men "threw a cell phone at the car in an attempt to break the back window." In response, Thomas rolled down the window and fired several shots from his car two of which struck one of the men who died from the wounds. *Id.*

In defending the resulting homicide charge, at trial, Thomas sought an instruction requiring the jury to apply the Castle Doctrine presumption. *Id.* 1115-16 (¶13). The trial

court refused. Id.

The Court of Appeals said that for the presumptions to arise under Miss. Code Ann. §97–3–15, there had to be a factual basis and proof of the following two prongs: "First, under subsection (4), if the defendant is in a place where he had a right to be, is not the immediate provoker and aggressor, and is not engaged in unlawful activity, he has no duty to retreat before using defensive force. ... And second, if the jury finds that any of the circumstances in subsection (3) are satisfied, the defendant who uses such defensive force is presumed to have reasonably feared imminent death or great bodily harm or the commission of a felony upon him." *Id.* The *Thomas* court reversed on a finding that the trial court should have allowed the instruction under §97-3-15 (3) and (4).

In the present case, Mathews was in a place he had a right to be. He was not the initial aggressor and was not engaged in any unlawful act. So, the County Court and Circuit Court here should have applied the required presumption of justification to Mathews' reaction to Sullivan's aggression as a matter of law.

In *Newell v. State*, 49 So. 3d 66, 68-69 (¶¶ 2-6) (Miss. 2010), the defendant was convicted of manslaughter stemming from a shooting during an altercation with a man in the parking lot of a bar in Lowndes County. The Supreme Court found that the trial court erred reversibly, in part, by refusing an instruction regarding the statutory presumption under the Castle Doctrine. As in *Thomas, supra*, there was a confrontation and the victim followed Newell back to his truck. The victim "began shouting and beating on the truck" and threatening Newell. Newell said he feared for his life because the victim tried to open the truck door with the obvious intention of beating Newell or pulling him out of the truck." *Id.* Newell was able to push himself out of the truck at which point the victim said "I'm fixing to cut you up" and "grabbed at his pocket", so Newell reached under the seat of the truck, pulled a pistol out, and shot. *Id.* The victim never displayed a weapon, but a pocket knife was found in his pocket. *Id.*

The *Newell* court followed the same two prong approach as in *Thomas. Id.* 74-78 (\P 22-28). Newell had a right to be in the parking lot and in his own truck. Otherwise, Newell's testimony raised the presumption of the Castle Doctrine. *Id.*

The trial court in *Newell* refused an instruction under the Castle Doctrine because Newell was not in his vehicle when the shooting occurred . *Id.* ¶ 27. The Supreme Court disagreed. The statute clearly refers to the "vehicle which he was occupying" and states that the person who uses defensive force is entitled to the presumption "if the person against whom the defensive force was used, was in the process of unlawfully and forcibly entering ... a[n] ... occupied vehicle ... or if that person ... was attempting to unlawfully **remove another against the other person's will from that ... occupied vehicle....**" *Id.* [Emphasis added.].

Applying *Newell* here, Matthews and his daughter were "occupying" his vehicle when Sullivan initiated an aggressive act against the child by trying to extract her from

12

the back seat. Therefore, under the Castle Doctrine, Mathews actions were justified and clearly lawful. Like Newell, Mathews "utilized force while he was still 'in the immediate premises' of the truck and while he perceived danger instigated by and from" Sullivan. *Id.* 76 (\P 30).

The County Court and Circuit Court should have been led by the presumption and acquitted Mathews of the simple assault charge, or at a minimum, should have granted him a new trial. According to *Maye v. State*, 49 So. 3d 1124, 1130 (¶¶ 13-14) (Miss. 2010), "the burden of proof to prove self-defense [or defense of another] is not on the defendant. Rather, it lies with the State to prove that the defendant did not act in self-defense. *Id.* [Citing *Pierce v. State*, 289 So. 2d 901 (Miss. 1974)]. This the state failed to do.

Therefore, the presumptions afforded Mr. Mathews by the legislature's adopting the of the Castle Doctrine coupled with his fundamental rights as a parent, would require a directed verdict or JNOV of acquittal or a trial de novo in Circuit Court pursuant to UCCCR Rule 12.03.

ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF DISORDERLY CONDUCT UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES?

The First Amendment to the United States Constitution provides in pertinent part that "Congress shall make no law ... abridging the freedom of speech." U.S. Const. Amend. I. The Fourteenth Amendment prohibits the states from "abridg[ing] the privileges and immunities" granted to us by way of the U.S. Constitution. U.S. Const.
Amend. XIV. However, the freedom of speech is not absolute. *Schenck v. United States*, 249 U.S. 47, 52, 39 S.Ct. 247, 63 L.Ed. 470 (1919). Lewd or obscene language, profanity, libel, and insulting or 'fighting' words are subject to limitation. *Id.* at 574, 62 S.Ct. 766. There was no evidence here that Mathews was lewd or obscene and he did not offer any insult or fighting words. He was not in the process of breaching any peace.

Our disorderly conduct statute Miss. Code Ann. § 97-35-7 (1972) provides for a charge arising during a breach of peace against one who "fails or refuses to promptly comply with or obey a request, command, or order of a law enforcement officer, having the authority to then and there arrest any person for a violation of the law." ³

A review of the facts in this case shows, primarily, there was no existing, or threatened breach of peace confronting Officer Wigley when he voiced his command to Mathews. Secondly, when Officer Wigley told Mathews to put the cell phone away

3

^{§ 97-35-7. (1972)} Disorderly conduct; refusal to comply with police request
(1) Whoever, with intent to provoke a breach of the peace, or under such circumstances as may lead to a breach of the peace, or which may cause or occasion a breach of the peace, fails or refuses to promptly comply with or obey a request, command, or order of a law enforcement

officer, having the authority to then and there arrest any person for a violation of the law, to:

⁽i) Act or do or refrain from acting or doing as ordered, requested or commanded by said officer to avoid any breach of the peace at or near the place of issuance of such order, request or command, shall be guilty of disorderly conduct, which is made a misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, such person or persons shall be punished by a fine of not more than Five Hundred Dollars (\$500.00) or imprisonment in the county jail for not more than six (6) months, or by both such fine and imprisonment.

Wigley did not have "authority to then and there arrest" Mathews. These factors in and of themselves should have required a directed verdict or JNOV of acquittal. *Jones v. State*, 798 So. 2d 1241, 1248 (Miss. 2001).

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