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

The Mississippi Supreme Court has always condemned the practice of "second-guessing" the jury with respect to factual determinations. The law pertaining to a defendant's request to overturn a jury verdict based on the weight of the evidence is clear and well established.

In Herring v. State, 691 So.2d 948,957 (Mississippi 1957), the Court noted:

In determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, this Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial. Thornhill v. State, 561 So.2d 1025, 1030 (Miss.1989), rehearing denied, 563 So.2d 609 (Miss.1990). Only when the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice will this Court disturb it on appeal. Benson v.

State, 551 So.2d 188, 193 (Miss.1989) (citing McFee v. State, 511 So.2d 130, 133-134 (Miss.1987)). Thus, the scope of review on this issue is limited in that all evidence must be construed in the light most favorable to the verdict. Mitchell v. State, 572 So.2d 865, 867 (Miss.1990).

In Morgan v. State, 681 So.2d 82,93 (Miss. 1996), the Court held:

When this Court reviews the sufficiency of the evidence, we look to all of the evidence before the jurors to determine whether or not a reasonable, hypothetical juror could find, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the defendant is guilty. Jackson v. State, 614 So.2d 965, 972 (Miss.1993). The evidence which supports the verdict is accepted as true, and the State is given the benefit of all reasonable inferences flowing from that evidence. Id. (citing Hammond v. State, 465 So.2d 1031, 1035 (Miss.1985)). We will not reverse a trial judge's denial of a motion for a new trial unless we are convinced that the verdict is so contrary to the weight of the evidence that, if it is allowed to stand, it would sanction an unconscionable injustice. Groseclose v. State, 440 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss.1983).

In Gibson v. State, 660 So.2d 1268,1272 (Miss. 1995), Justice Pittman, in a dissenting opinion, reviewed the applicable standard:

In Wash v. State, 521 So.2d 890 (Miss.1988), this Court addressed whether the jury verdict of guilty should be overturned because it was against the weight of the evidence. The Court, in emphasizing the limitations upon its scope of review of a finding of fact made by the jury, said, "'the jury is the sole judge of the credibility of witnesses, and the jury's decision based on conflicting evidence will not be set aside where there is substantial and believable evidence supporting the verdict.' " Id. at 896 (quoting Billiot v. State, 454 So.2d 445, 463 (Miss.1984)). Put another way, "the reviewing court cannot set aside a verdict unless it is clear that the verdict is a result of prejudice, bias or fraud, or is manifestly against the weight of credible evidence." Dixon v. State, 519 So.2d 1226, 1229 (Miss.1988); Marr v. State, 248 Miss. 281, 159 So.2d 167 (1963).

In Pharr v. State, 465 So.2d 294,301 (Miss. 1984), the Court held:

Where a defendant has moved for j.n.o.v., the trial court must consider all of the evidence-not just the evidence which supports the state's case--in the light most favorable to the state. May v. State, 460 So.2d 778, 781 (Miss.1984). The state must be given the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. Glass v. State, 278 So.2d 384, 386 (Miss.1973). If the facts and inferences so

considered point in favor of the defendant with sufficient force that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty, granting the motion is required. On the other hand, if there is substantial evidence opposed to the motion, that is, evidence of such quality and weight that, having in mind the beyond a reasonable doubt burden of proof standard, reasonable fair-minded men in the exercise of impartial judgment might reach different conclusions, the motion should be denied and the jury's verdict allowed to stand. May v. State, 460 So.2d 778, 781 (Miss.1984).

In other words, once the jury has returned a verdict of guilty in a criminal case, we are not at liberty to direct that the defendant be discharged short of a conclusion on our part that the evidence, taken in the light most favorable to the verdict, no reasonable, hypothetical juror could find beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty. May v. State, 460 So.2d 778, 781 (Miss.1984); Fairchild v. State, 459 So.2d 793, 798 (Miss.1984); Pearson v. State, 428 So.2d 1361, 1364 (Miss.1983).

In Holmes v. State, 660 So.2d 1225,1227 (Miss. 1995) the Court held:

Holmes asserts the State showed no evidence of violence or threat of injury, therefore the jury's verdict was wrong and against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. In determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, this Court accepts as true all evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that reasonable and fair-minded jurors could only find the defendant not guilty. Green v. State, 614 So.2d 926, 932 (Miss.1992).

In this case a single witness, Sims, stated that Holmes snatched over one hundred dollars out of his hand and ran away. Sims said Holmes later offered to repay the money if Sims would drop the charges. The jury clearly believed Sims. Testimony from a single credible witness is sufficient to sustain a conviction. Williams v. State, 512 So.2d 666, 670 (Miss.1987).

Where the trial judge sits as the finder of fact in a bench trial, his findings of fact are entitled to the same deference as those of a jury. *Christian v. State*, 859 So.2d 1068, 1072 (Miss.App.2005).

In the case before the Court, the defendant's argument is based on the premise that the appellate court should disregard the trial judge's findings regarding credibility of the witnesses and interpretation of the evidence. As the cases cited above demonstrate, the appellate court should not disturb the factual findings on the part of the trial judge, where, as here, there are facts in evidence that support the verdict.

The Assault Charge:

The circumstances surrounding the assault charge have been discussed in previous sections. At most, the defendant can point to a dispute as to who the primary aggressor might have been and, based on the case law cited above, it is the province of the finder of fact – in a bench trial, the judge – to determine the relative credibility of the witnesses and whose version of the facts is most believable.

The defendant's allegation that there was insufficient proof of injury is totally without merit. Sullivan testified as to bruises, scraped skin and physical pain. This is clearly sufficient under *Murrell v. State*, 655 So.2d 881 (Miss.1995), where the court held that it was sufficient if a victim simply stated that he suffered pain. "Either the officer suffered pain or he did not and it is a simple task to ask him." See Pam Sullivan's testimony at T.27.

The Disorderly Conduct Charge:

Officer Wigley arrived on the scene of a call that was designated as a domestic violence call. His first concern was to separate the parties and ensure that no additional violence occurred. The only way to accomplish this was by establishing control of the parties during the investigative phase.

In effect, he established an investigative detention while he sorted the situation out. As any reasonable police officer would do, he attempted to do so by polite request first, but when Mathews did not cooperate, he issued a direct order.

In order to determine whether an investigative detention is reasonable under the Fourth Amendment, a two step inquiry must be conducted.

First, the court must ascertain whether the detention was justified at its inception. *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 20 (1968). For a detention to be valid, the officer must have an articulable suspicion that a detainee has committed a crime or is about to commit a crime. *Florida v. Royer*, 460 U.S. 491, 498 (1983); *Jones v. State*, 801 So.2d 751, 756 (Miss.App.2001). In this case there were mutual accusations of violent behavior.

Second, there must be a determination as to whether the officer's actions are reasonably related in scope to the circumstances which justified the interference in the first place. *Terry* at 20.

The "reasonable suspicion" standard required for a Terry investigative detention requires only a minimal level of "objective justification" which is "considerably less than proof of wrongdoing by a preponderance of the evidence." *United States v. Sokolow*, 490 U.S. 1, 7 (1989).

In response to the first inquiry, the court must make a determination based on the facts known to the officer at the time he makes the decision regarding an investigative detention. *Qualls v. State*, 947 So.2d 365, 371 (Miss.App.2007), citing *Singletary v. State* 318 So.2d 873, 877 (Miss.1975)(citing *Terry* at 21-22). In the present case, at the time Wigley ordered Mathews to move away from Sullivan and put the phone away, he knew the following things:

- (a) The officer had been dispatched to deal with a call alleging domestic violence.
- (b) The defendant Mathews exhibited a "disgruntled" attitude. (By his own admission, he was "extraordinarily frustrated."(T. 81).
 - (c) The defendant Mathews had made an "angry gesture.

Based on these factors, Wigley had more than adequate grounds for instituting an investigative detention to resolve an "ambiguous" situation. Singletary v. State, 318

So.2d 873, 876-7(Miss.1975). A collection of actions which, individually, are subject to innocent explanation may be sufficient to create reasonable circumstances under the totality of the circumstances. *Qualls* at 371, citing *Anderson v. State*, 864 So.2d 948, 951 (Miss.App.2003)(citing *United States v. Arvitzu*, 534 U.S. 266, 274 (2002)).

"In evaluating the factors alleged in support of reasonable suspicion, the court 'judge[s] the officer's conduct in light of common sense and ordinary human experience This approach is intended to avoid unrealistic second-guessing of police officers' decisions and to accord appropriate deference to the ability of a trained law enforcement officer to distinguish between innocent and suspicious actions." *United States v. Alvarez*, 68 F.3d 1242, 1244 (10th Cir.1995).

As noted by the Mississippi Court of Appeals in *Bovan v. State*, 706 So.2d 254, 257 (Miss.App.1997), "Every citizen cannot be a lay magistrate, determining what is valid or not, unless the police commands fall outside a broad range of reasonableness."

Since the *Terry* decision in 1968, the Supreme Court has expanded the scope of a permissible *Terry*-stop from simply conducting a weapons pat-down to 'ask[ing] the detainee a moderate number of questions to determine his identity and to try to obtain information confirming or dispelling the officer's suspicions. *Berkemer v. McCarty*, 468 U.S. 420, 439-440(1984).

Numerous jurisdictions, including Mississippi, have recognized an aggressive physical stance as a factor which can be considered in serving as the basis for a *Terry* detention. *Tate v. State*, 946 So.2d 376 (Miss.App.2006)(the defendant "squared off" and assumed a "defensive stance."380-381); *United States v. Meindl*, 83 F.Supp.2d 1207(D.Kansas 1999)("animated and aggressive behavior in an open and public setting ... angry demeanor"1222.); *United States v. Smith*, 217 F.3d 746 (9th Cir.2000)("threatening posture"750.); *Johnson v. Hanada* 2008 WL 2329222(D.Or.)("The fact that the Plaintiff quickened his pace away from the summoning officer and ultimately turned to confront him in a stance suggesting a willingness to fight would,

under the totality of these circumstances, lean an objectively reasonable police officer to believe "criminal activity was afoot: and would justify a Terry stop of any such person for the purpose of dispelling such reasonable suspicion.").

Numerous jurisdictions, including Mississippi, have also recognized that the use of "intrusive precautions" (such restraining the suspect, even by the use of handcuffs or placing a suspect on the ground) during a Terry detention do not transform a Terry detention into an arrest under the Fourth Amendment. Jones v. State, 801. So.2d751, 756 (Miss.App.2001); Gallegos v. City of Colorado Springs, 114 F.3d 1024 (10th, Cir. 1997) (Use of force was justified during Terry detention where suspect pivoted toward officer, assumed a wrestler's position, was yelling appeared angry and smelled as if he had been drinking); United States v. Perdue, 8 F.3d 1455, 1462-1463 (10th Cir.1993) ("While Terry stops generally must be fairly nonintrusive, officers may take necessary steps to protect themselves if the circumstances reasonably warrant such measures Directing the suspect to lie on the ground provided the officers with a better view of the suspect and prevented him from obtaining weapons which might have been in the car or on his person This holding is consistent with the recent trend allowing police to use handcuffs or place suspects on the ground during a Terry stop. Nine courts of appeals, including the Tenth Circuit, have determined that such intrusive precautionary measures do no necessarily turn a lawful Terry stop into an arrest under the Fourth Amendment [citations omitted]."

In this case, the officer simply made the least intrusive command decision reasonably possible; he separated the parties and requested that Mathews stop using his cell phone. The office did not handcuff Mathews or put him on the ground or exercise any other physical restraint until Mathews adamantly disobeyed his direction. The officer was faced with a potentially violent situation — in fact, a situation where violence had already been reported — and he had no obligation to allow Mathews or anyone else to take action that might be designed to summon other combatants or potential combatants

to the scene and escalate whatever problem had already occurred. As the investigation progressed, allowing the use of the phone might have been reasonable, but at this early stage the officer was justified in taking reasonable measures to secure the scene and the parties.

By his own testimony, Mathews had already called the police and his own father. He did not claim that he was in need of medical assistance or that he was calling for medical assistance. There was no compelling reason for Mathews to insist upon using the phone to call his father *again* except Mathews' own explanation that he was in "kind of an emotion funk." (T.96).

Mathews' deliberate and unequivocal decision to disobey the reasonable order of a police officer who was simply trying to establish control of a volatile scene, where a report of violence had already occurred, more that justified the charge and conviction of disorderly conduct.

3. The court's exclusion of the police dispatch report was (a) appropriate because of the defendant's failure to designate the item as required by UCCCR 9.04 and (b) was at most harmless error since the defendant was allowed to testify as to the substance of the document, and his testimony was not contested but was in fact confirmed by the state's witnesses.

The defendant does not dispute that he failed to designate the dispatch report that he moved to introduce as a potential exhibit in his case in chief as required by UCCCR 9.04. Under the provisions cited by the Appellant, the trial judge was clearly justified in excluding the evidence. The prosecution was familiar with the document and never claimed otherwise, but contended that it was unfair to designate its introduction as an exhibit in the defendant's case in chief at that late stage. The rule gives the judge the discretion to exclude the document at that point.

More important, exclusion of the document could not possibly prejudice the defendant or hinder presentation of a possible defense since the defendant was allowed to have the relevant portion of the document read into evidence and verified by the defendant, without objection by the prosecution.

Again, consider the following excerpt from the trial transcript:

- Q. (By Mr. Ganner) I want to show you a document, a dispatch sheet from the Madison County Police Department, and I want you to read that and tell me if that accurately reflects what you told them.
- A. "Male caller says female at this residence snatched his child out of the vehicle after a physical altercation."
 - Q. Does that accurately reflect what you told the Madison police?
 - A. Yes, it does.

(T.82)

If there was any error on the part of the court by exclusion of the physical document, it was more than cured by allowing the defendant to read the relevant portions into the record, without objection. At most, this would constitute harmless error, and is not grounds for reversal. As the Mississippi Supreme Court held in *Thorson v. State*, 895 So.2d 85, 123(Miss.2004):

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